Filed 03-03-2022

FILED 03-03-2022 CLERK OF WISCONSIN SUPREME COURT

STATE OF WISCONSIN

IN SUPREME COURT

No. 2020AP1362-CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent-Petitioner,

v.

JOVAN T. MULL,

Defendant-Appellant.

PETITION FOR REVIEW AND APPENDIX

JOSHUA L. KAUL Attorney General of Wisconsin

CHRISTINE A. REMINGTON Assistant Attorney General State Bar #1046171

Attorneys for Plaintiff-Respondent-Petitioner

Wisconsin Department of Justice Post Office Box 7857 Madison, Wisconsin 53707-7857 (608) 266-8943 (608) 294-2907 (Fax) remingtonca@doj.state.wi.us

ISSUE PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

Under binding case law, in reviewing an ineffective assistance claim, the court must defer to a trial attorney's strategic decisions. Here, the circuit court found Mull's attorney used reasonable strategies in choosing a defense and handling cross-examination of a witness, and it deferred to the attorney's strategy. But the court of appeals substituted its own decisions for those of Mull's trial attorney. Did the court of appeals impermissibly fail to defer to Mull's attorney's strategic decisions?

CRITERIA SUPPORTING THE PETITION FOR REVIEW

The State submits that this Court should grant the petition for review. The court of appeals' decision conflicts with controlling opinions of the supreme court. See Wis. Stat. § (Rule) 809.62(1r)(d). The court cited to State v. Kimbrough, 2001 WI App 138, ¶¶ 32–34, 246 Wis. 2d 648, 630 N.W.2d 752, when it concluded that the attorney's strategic decision was objectively unreasonable. This is a misinterpretation of Kimbrough. It conflicts with the requirement in Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668, 689 (1984), to defer to trial counsel's authority to make strategic decisions.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND STATEMENT OF FACTS

This homicide arose out of a fight and shooting at a party at the home of the victim Ericka Walker. (R. 1:2.) During the fight, Walker attempted to intervene by pulling some of the participants of the fight into a bedroom. (R. 103:2.) "Someone outside of the bedroom then fired multiple gunshots through the closed bedroom door." (R. 103:2–3.) Walker was hit by some of the bullets, and she died of her injuries. (R. 103:3.) After a several-week investigation, the State identified Mull as the shooter and charged him with first-degree reckless homicide. (R. 103:3.)

Trial

In his opening statement at trial in April 2016, Attorney Eamon Guerin told the jury that it would have to resolve "an issue of identity" from "many different versions" of what happened at the party. (R. 134:32.) Attorney Guerin advised the jury to pay attention to "how the story changes" from the initial arrest of a suspect based on "credible evidence and statements" to the later charges against Mull. (R. 134:33.)

Walker's ex-girlfriend Cheyenne Pugh testified that she was not at the party, but that she received conflicting information from friends after the shooting identifying both Vashawn Smyth and Mull¹ as the shooter. (R. 135:34–36, 41.) Pugh did not know who killed Walker. (R. 135:34–35.)

When the State read a Facebook message implicating Smyth to Pugh, Attorney Guerin objected on hearsay grounds. (R. 135:40.) The State explained that the statement was not being offered for the truth of the matter asserted, but rather to explain how the investigation unfolded. (R. 135:40.) The court overruled the objection and explained to the jury that "the statement in the chat is not being offered for the truth of what it says, but merely that there's a statement that this witness received." (R. 135:40.)

On cross-examination, Pugh confirmed that she did not personally know who had sent her the information implicating Smyth. (R. 135:49, 51.) Pugh testified that "they" did not want to be directly associated with the investigation. (R. 135:53.) When Attorney Guerin asked who, if anyone,

¹ Pugh identified Smyth as "Bush" and Mull as "Woadie." (R. 135:36–37, 46.) In the record, Smyth's name is often spelled "Smith." The State spells his name Smyth throughout its brief because he spelled it that way in his testimony. (R. 135:58.)

"they" was and whether anyone was receiving the messages in addition to Pugh, Pugh explained that she meant people who were "coming up to [her] about the situation" and offering condolences for Walker's death. (R. 135:54.)

Pugh then said that one woman told Pugh about Mull's "being in the hood bragging about it saying that he hit a lick over there on 35th and he killed the stud bitch." (R. 135:54.) Pugh defined "stud" as "a female who dresses like a guy." (R. 135:54.) Attorney Guerin asked Pugh why she initially gave a false name to police, and Pugh explained that she did not immediately give her actual name because she "had warrants out for [her] arrest." (R. 135:56.) When Attorney Guerin remarked that Pugh's "story changed" from Smyth to Mull, Pugh emphasized that she never said Smyth was the shooter, only that one person told her Smyth was the shooter while others said it was Mull. (R. 135:56.)

Smyth testified that he went to the party with his sister and Mejuan Bankhead. (R. 135:61.) He recalled that fights broke out in two locations, and that he got involved in the fight in the living room. (R. 135:63–66.) Smyth testified that he did not have a gun, but he saw two other people with guns that night: Mull² and Tyler Harris. (R. 135:67–68.) Smyth testified that Mull was wearing a blue hooded sweatshirt. (R. 135:74.) According to Smyth, Tyler Harris was in the living room and Mull was in the kitchen pointing his gun toward the living room when Smyth left. (R. 135:68, 73.) Smyth heard shots but did not see the shooter. (R. 135:69.) Smyth admitted that he was arrested right after the shooting because the police suspected that he was the shooter. (R. 135:71.)

On cross-examination, Attorney Guerin revisited the issue of Smyth's arrest as the shooter and asked him again whether he had a gun at the party. (R. 135:74, 76.) Attorney

² Smyth identified "Woadie" as Mull. (R. 135:70.)

Guerin remarked that Smyth had told police that he usually carried a gun. (R. 135:76.) Attorney Guerin further inquired about Smyth seeing Tyler Harris with a gun, where Tyler Harris was in the house, and whether Smyth witnessed the shooting. (R. 135:77–78, 80.)

Sanchez Harris also testified, recounting that he rode with Mull to Walker's party. (R. 135:83, 89–91.) Mull told Sanchez Harris that he had a gun. (R. 135:91.) At the party, Sanchez Harris saw the shooting from the kitchen, and testified that Mull was "[t]he person who probably did it." (R. 135:96, 102–04.) Sanchez Harris stated that Smyth and Bankhead had left by the time he heard shots. (R. 135:94.) Sanchez Harris rode home with Mull after the shooting, and Mull threatened him. (R. 135:97–98, 103–04.) Sanchez Harris testified that Mull was wearing a red sweatshirt. (R. 135:98.)

Attorney Guerin probed for inconsistencies on crossexamination, eliciting testimony that Sanchez Harris had remembered at trial who was driving the van, but had no such memory when he was interviewed by police. (R. 135:106.) Attorney Guerin also asked whether Sanchez Harris routinely rode with armed strangers at night. (R. 135:108, 114–15.) Moreover, Attorney Guerin guestioned whether Sanchez Harris could have seen the shooting itself in light of his testimony about where he was standing when the incident occurred. (R. 135:113-14.) And because Sanchez Harris had already seen a photo of Mull before participating in the photo array, Attorney Guerin wondered whether the array was simply "pin the tail on the donkey." (R. 135:105, 114, 118.) Finally, Attorney Guerin confirmed with Sanchez Harris that when Sanchez Harris rode back with Mull after the party, Tyler Harris had a gun and said that he had "emptied his clip." (R. 135:115.)

Another person who attended the party, Alphonso Carter, testified that after the fight, he saw two men with guns in the living room. (R. 135:121, 124.) One man told the

Filed 03-03-2022

other to shoot, and that man then fired at Walker's bedroom door. (R. 135:124.) Carter identified Mull as the shooter. (R. 135:127–29.) On cross-examination, Attorney Guerin elicited testimony that Carter did not initially identify anyone from a photo array, but had the police return with profile shots. (R. 135:134–35.) Moreover, Carter recalled the shooter wearing a white t-shirt and blue jeans. (R. 135:136–37.) This testimony was contrary to Sanchez Harris's testimony that Mull wore a red sweatshirt (R. 135:98) and Smyth's testimony that Mull wore a blue hooded sweatshirt (R. 135:74).

A friend of Walker's, Desmand Butler, testified that he was involved in the fight at the party, and that the person who was taken to the bedroom began throwing things from behind the bedroom door. (R. 137:38, 41–44.) Butler then saw one person standing about five feet in front of him shoot at the closed bedroom door. (R. 137:44–45.) The shooter wore a red sweatshirt. (R. 137:55.) He acknowledged identifying Mull as "the only person that [Butler] thought look[ed] like who it was" from a photo array. (R. 137:49.)

On cross-examination, Attorney Guerin reviewed the photographs from the photo array with Butler after confirming his description of the shooter. (R. 137:55, 57–60.) After initial cross-examination concluded and the jury was excused, Butler told the court that he now doubted his identification. (R. 137:61.) The jury returned to the courtroom, and Butler testified that he "was the closest witness to" the shooter but no longer thought that Mull was "really him." (R. 137:62–63.) Butler explained that he picked Mull from the photo array because he was the younger of the two men with dreadlocks. (R. 137:63.) Butler stated that in person, the height and body language were different. (R. 137:63.)

Detective Matthew Bell testified that Butler had been sure Mull was the shooter when he picked his photo out of the photo array. (R. 138:9–10.) Detective Patrick Pajot testified that Butler viewed a live lineup with Bankhead as the target Case 2020AP001362 Petition for Review

Filed 03-03-2022

and a photo array with Smyth as the target but did not identify anyone as the shooter. (R. 137:66–69.) Rather, Butler only identified Bankhead and Smyth as having been at the party. (R. 137:67–69.)

Another acquaintance of Walker's, Vachune Hubbard, testified that although Mull initially denied involvement in the shooting, he eventually confessed to Hubbard that he had shot through the bedroom door at the party. (R. 137:91, 99.) On cross-examination, Attorney Guerin questioned why Hubbard would goad Mull into confessing to the shooting if he did not want to be implicated in criminal activity. (R. 137:103.)

Detective Michael Washington explained how the police were able to identify Mull as Woadie by using information from a Facebook post obtained from Pugh that identified Mull as the shooter. (R. 136:19–20.) He confirmed that Pugh had first heard of Mull at a vigil. (R. 136:19.) Detective Washington acknowledged that Smyth was considered a possible suspect at one point during the investigation. (R. 136:18–19.) On cross-examination, Attorney Guerin questioned Detective Washington about a Facebook post containing Mull's name and who could have posted it. (R. 136:24–25, 27.)Detective Erik Gulbrandson also acknowledged that Smyth had been a suspect. (R. 136:30–31.) But when the detective showed a photo array targeting Smyth to Carter, Carter did not identify Smyth as the shooter. (R. 136:32.)

Mull did not testify or present any witness testimony. Mull stated that although he thought that they "could find some of the witnesses" on the defense list, he had agreed with Attorney Guerin's decision not to call them. (R. 138:4–5.) The State remarked that many of the witnesses on the defense list were also on the State's list, and that the State could not "find a bunch of the kids that were at that party." (R. 138:5.) In closing, Attorney Guerin reiterated that this case presented "an issue of identification." (R. 139:13.) Attorney Guerin remarked that the jury did not "hear from everybody at that party," and should consider witness credibility as well as the amount of "time that has elapsed between the witness's observation and the identification" of Mull. (R. 139:13–14.) Moreover, he advised the jury to consider "intervening events which may have affected or influenced the identification." (R. 139:14.) Specifically, Attorney Guerin noted that there were "photos floating around" on Facebook of Mull while the police were conducting photo arrays, and that the State's witnesses gave conflicting descriptions of what Mull was allegedly wearing. (R. 139:19, 24.)

The jury convicted Mull of first-degree reckless homicide. (R. 57.)

Postconviction

Mull moved After sentencing, the court for postconviction relief pursuant to Wis. Stat. § (Rule) 809.30. (R. 82:1.) He requested an evidentiary hearing and argued that he was entitled to a new trial on three alternative grounds. First, he asserted that Attorney Guerin provided ineffective assistance for failing to (1) adequately crossexamine Smyth, (2) present a third-party perpetrator defense implicating Smyth, Tyler Harris, or Bankhead, (3) call witnesses or elicit testimony in support of a reasonable doubt defense, (4) object to Pugh's inadmissible hearsay testimony, (5) object to Detective Washington's inadmissible hearsay testimony, and for (6) eliciting additional hearsay testimony from Pugh on cross-examination without remedying the error. (R. 82:9–18.) Second, he alleged that the State failed to disclose material impeachment evidence relating to Smyth. (R. 82:18–19.) And third, he asserted that he was entitled to a new trial in the interest of justice. (R. 82:19–20.)

Mull provided investigative reports regarding witnesses he believed would have assisted in the third-party perpetrator defense. Keshawana Wright initially identified Vashawn Smyth as the shooter from a photo array. (R. 82:55– 56.) The following week, Wright participated in a line-up with Bankhead as the target, but she did not recognize anyone. (R. 83:47.) Approximately two weeks after the shooting, Wright participated in a second photo array with Mull as the target, but Wright stated that no one looked familiar. (R. 84:18–19.) The officer who administered the second array noted in his report that Wright "wasn't attempting to identify any suspects." (R. 84:19.)

The State contested each of Mull's claims (R. 92:2–19), including documenting its unsuccessful attempts to locate and subpoena several witnesses for trial. (R. 92:45–61.)

The circuit court denied Mull relief without an evidentiary hearing. (R. 97:9.) Mull appealed. (R. 100.)

The court of appeals reversed the circuit court's order and remanded for an evidentiary hearing. (R. 103:1.) The court concluded that Mull alleged sufficient facts to entitle him to a *Machner*³ hearing on his claim that attorney Guerin should have presented a third-party perpetrator offense. (R. 103:12.) The court noted that one eyewitness identified Smyth as the shooter, that Tyler Harris shot his gun during the party, and that Bankhead held a gun outside of the bedroom door before the shooting. (R. 103:12.)

The court also held that Mull was entitled to a *Machner* hearing on his claim that Attorney Guerin was ineffective for failing to move to strike Pugh's cross-examination testimony regarding Mull bragging about shooting Walker. (R. 103:17– 19.) Finally, the court concluded that Mull failed to

³ State v. Machner, 92 Wis. 2d 797, 285 N.W.2d 905 (Ct. App. 1979).

adequately allege that Attorney Guerin's performance in cross-examining Smyth caused prejudice. (R. 103:21.)

On remand, the circuit court held a *Machner* hearing. (R. 142.) Attorney Guerin testified that as an experienced criminal defense attorney, he knew about third-party perpetrator evidence. (R. 142:9–10.) He discussed the difficulty he had finding witnesses to interview. (R. 142:12.) Attorney Guerin explained that without witnesses to testify that Smyth was the shooter, he could not pursue a third-party perpetrator defense. (R. 142:13.)

Instead, Attorney Guerin explained that at trial he pursued a defense that the State could not meet its burden to prove guilt beyond a reasonable doubt. (R. 142:18.) He chose this defense over the third-party perpetrator defense because of the difficulty he and his investigator had locating relevant witnesses. (R. 142:18.) He testified that a third-party defense would have been difficult because of the missing evidence. (R. 142:19.)

Regarding Attorney Guerin's cross-examination of Pugh, he knew that hearsay had been allowed during Pugh's direct examination. (R. 142:31.) Attorney Guerin explained that Pugh made the statement identifying Mull as the shooter, but that the statement came in the context of other troubling testimony. (R. 142:33.) He explained that rather than call attention to Pugh's answer, he used his questioning to attack Pugh's credibility. (R. 142:35–36.) Attorney Guerin believed that if he objected to Pugh's comment, then it risked bringing too much attention to it. (R. 142:40.)

Attorney Guerin explained that he chose to present a reasonable doubt defense because different people had identified different shooters, there were different descriptions of outfits, and there was confusion describing the fight because two fights had occurred in close proximity. (R. 142:41.) Given that testimony, because of multiple people with multiple guns, multiple people giving bad descriptions, and because of witnesses drinking and smoking marijuana, Attorney Guerin believed that he could attack witnesses' credibility. (R. 142:41.)

Only Keshawna Wright identified Smyth as the shooter. (R. 142:48.) And Attorney Guerin could not locate her. (R. 142:44.) No witnesses identified Bankhead or Tyler Harris as the shooter. (R. 142:49.) Smyth heard Tyler Harris say that he "emptied his clip," but there was no other evidence that Tyler Harris was the shooter. (R. 142:49.)

The circuit court orally denied Mull's postconviction motion. (R. 145:29.) The court found Attorney Guerin's testimony credible because he testified that he did not remember when he did not remember. (R. 145:22.) The court believed that Attorney Guerin made the strategic decision to pursue a reasonable doubt defense because he could not locate the proper witnesses to present a third-party perpetrator defense. (R. 145:23.) Further, the court concluded that Attorney Guerin had a trial strategy to undermine Pugh's credibility generally, but to not bring too much attention to her testimony that Mull shot Walker. (R. 145:29.) The court concluded that the alleged errors in Attorney Guerin's performance were not deficient and did not cause Mull to suffer prejudice. (R. 145:29.)

Mull appealed. (R. 121.) The court of appeals rejected the circuit court's conclusion. It was not persuaded by Mull's attorney's testimony that he rejected presenting a third-party perpetrator defense because he could not locate witnesses. *State v. Mull*, No. 2020AP1362-CR, 2022 WL 287813, ¶ 34, (Wis. Ct. App. Feb. 1, 2022) (not recommended for publication); (Pet-App. 116). It concluded that he was deficient for failing to pursue alternative means to present the third-party perpetrator defense. *Id.* It concluded that the attorney's strategic decision to pursue a reasonable doubt defense was objectively unreasonable. *Id.* ¶ 36; (Pet-App. 117). It concluded that Mull was prejudiced by this unreasonable decision. *Id.* ¶ 40; (Pet-App. 119).

Next, the court concluded that the attorney was deficient, and Mull was prejudiced for the failure to move for a mistrial after testimony that Mull was bragging about killing the victim. *Mull*, 2022 WL 287813, ¶¶ 43–48; (Pet-App. 121–22).

Therefore, it remanded to the circuit court for a new trial. The State now petitions this Court to review the decision of the court of appeals.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Review is warranted because the court of appeals' opinion is flawed. The court of appeals' decision is legally flawed because it conflicts with controlling opinions. See Wis. Stat. § (Rule) 809.62(1r)(d). The court cited to Kimbrough, 246 Wis. 2d 648, ¶¶ 32–34, when it concluded that the attorney's strategic decisions were objectively unreasonable. This is a misinterpretation of the holding in Kimbrough. Accordingly, the State requests that this Court review the decision of the court of appeals.

ARGUMENT

The court of appeals ignored binding case law by impermissibly weighing the evidence rather than defer to the attorney's strategic choices.

Under controlling precedent, the court of appeals owed deference to the attorney's strategic decision. The court ignored that precedent. *Mull*, 2022 WL 287813, ¶ 36; (Pet-App. 117–18.) This directly conflicts with *Gordon* and *Breitzman*.

A. The standards of review for an ineffective assistance claim are well established and require deference to the attorney's strategic choices.

1. General standard of review.

Whether a lawyer rendered ineffective assistance is a mixed question of law and fact. *State v. Manuel*, 2005 WI 75, \P 26, 281 Wis. 2d 554, 697 N.W.2d 811. The court of appeals will uphold the circuit court's findings of fact unless they are clearly erroneous. *Id.* Whether the defendant's proof satisfies either the deficient performance or the prejudice prong is a question of law that this Court reviews without deference to the circuit court's conclusions. *Id.*

2. The defendant bears the burden of proving deficient performance and prejudice.

A defendant claiming ineffective assistance of counsel must prove both that his lawyer's representation was deficient and that he suffered prejudice as a result of that deficient performance. *Strickland* 466 U.S. at 687. If the court concludes that the defendant has not proven one prong of this test, it need not address the other. *Id.* at 697.

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