FILED 03-16-2022 CLERK OF WISCONSIN SUPREME COURT

STATE OF WISCONSIN

IN SUPREME COURT

Case No. 2020AP1362-CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent-Petitioner,

v.

JOVAN T. MULL,

Defendant-Appellant.

RESPONSE TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

CHRISTOPHER P. AUGUST Assistant State Public Defender State Bar No. 1087502

Office of the State Public Defender 735 N. Water Street - Suite 912 Milwaukee, WI 53202-4116 (414) 227-4805 augustc@opd.wi.gov

Attorney for Defendant-Appellant

Filed 03-16-2022

Case 2020AP001362

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

ARGUMENT

- I. The State has failed to demonstrate that review is warranted under Wis. Stat. § 809.62(1)(r).
 - A. This Court does not accept petitions for review which are based on nothing more than a dissatisfaction with how wellsettled ineffectiveness principles applied to a particular set of facts.

In its petition, the State claims that review is warranted "because the court of appeals opinion is flawed." (State's Petition at 15). In the State's view, this case "conflicts with controlling opinions" as the court of appeals failed to properly defer to the strategic choices of trial counsel. (State's Petition at 15).

Notably, the State cannot plausibly claim that review will impact any cases beyond this one as the underlying decision of the court of appeals is an unpublished per curiam decision which is categorically incapable of modifying or altering the present state of the common law. See Wis. Stat. § 809.23(1)(b)5. In essence, the State is frustrated with how the ineffectiveness principles were applied in particular case and is asking this Court to reapply these settled precedents and reassess the "reasonableness" of counsel's conduct.

Filed 03-16-2022

This exact scenario was presented to the Court in State v. Gajewski, 2009 WI 22, 316 Wis. 2d 1, 762 N.W.2d 104. There, the Court correctly recognized that it was being asked to do no more than "clarify and put a gloss on longstanding principles for evaluating the effectiveness of a defendant's counsel at trial." *Id.*. ¶ 10. This Court accurately surmised that the case was more about error correction than it was about law development. Id., ¶ 11. The Court therefore dismissed the petition as improvidently granted. *Id*.

A similar result should obtain here. As will be shown below, the court of appeals did not improperly apply the law. While the State disagrees with the outcome, it fails to persuade that resolution of this case will add anything meaningful to an alreadyvoluminous body of case law setting forth the wellworn principles of attorney ineffectiveness.

Accordingly, review is not warranted.

В. The court of appeals did not improperly fail to defer to the strategic choices of trial counsel.

The crux of the State's argument is that the court of appeals failed to give the proper level of deference to trial counsel's explanations for his strategic choices. (State's Br. at 15). The State claims that the court of appeals "ignored" this precedent and instead merely reweighed the evidence. (State's Br. at 15). There are several problems with this line of argument.

Filed 03-16-2022

First, it is poorly developed and not supported by proper legal citation. For example, the State claims that the court of appeals failed to abide by two cases-"Gordon and Breitzman." However, "Gordon" does not appear in the table of authorities and is never summarized or explained; there is not even a citation or a full case name included in the text of the State's petition. To the extent that the State believes this decision "conflicts" with Gordon, it has failed to explain how or why. Likewise, its argument regarding the alleged incongruity with State v. Breitzman, 2017 WI 100, 378 Wis. 2d 431, 904 N.W.2d 93 consists of only two cursory sentences, several pages apart. This is a fatal flaw and should not entitle the State to obtain review in this Court.

Similarly, the State persistently claims that there is a "misinterpretation" of State v. Kimbrough, 2001 WI App 138, 246 Wis. 2d 648, 630 N.W.2d 752 present in the court of appeals decision. However, in this case, the court of appeals cited that decision one time, for the uncontroversial principle that the strategic choices of trial counsel must be objectively reasonable. Mull, Appeal No. 2020AP1362-CR, ¶ 36. (App. 20). The State does not explain why this statement of the law—which is accurate—is in any way a misinterpretation. At best, the State seems to think Kimbrough was "misinterpreted" because, in that case, application of this settled principle led to the defendant losing and, in this case, it led to the defendant winning. The State's argument reflects a bizarre misunderstanding of how precedent works. A court does not "misinterpret" the law simply because

it fails to reach a desired outcome while properly citing the applicable precedent. These arguments are, frankly, unworthy of review by this Court.

The second, glaring problem is that the State's "deference" argument does not accurately depict or represent the reasoning of the court of appeals. It is not at all accurate to represent that the court of appeals merely "reweighed" the evidence, as the State does. Instead, the court of appeals acknowledged that the main dispute in this case centered on the "reasonableness" of trial counsel's allegedly strategic choices. The court of appeals therefore undertook a searching review of the choices made by trial counsel, as well as the subsidiary judgments undergirding these ultimate strategic decisions. This is the exact procedure outlined in Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668, 690-691 (1984). While that case mandates deference, the United States Supreme Court has also made clear that it is prima facie unreasonable to make strategic choices that are not adequately supported by equally reasonable investigation and analysis. Id. Here, the court of appeals carefully considered the arguments of the State, but simply found those arguments unpersuasive.

Thus, the court of appeals ultimately concluded that counsel's strategic choices were objectively unreasonable. This reading of the evidence should not be controversial. For example, counsel said he was pursuing a reasonable doubt defense, but did not present any of the copious evidence available to assist the presentation of that defense—including

evidence that someone other than Jovan committed the crime. Moreover, counsel did not make a reasonable investigation before abandoning his efforts to present such evidence. While counsel claimed he did not present the evidence highlighted in the postconviction motion because of the difficulties in calling witnesses to get it in the record, counsel did not actually exhaust legal mechanisms available before reaching that conclusion. Counsel did not recognize that evidence already in the record would have supported the defense, did not make use of legal process, and failed to appreciate that the evidence code would allow the testimony of unavailable witnesses.⁵

Likewise, with respect to the elicitation of a hearsay confession that depicted Jovan calling the tragic victim a derogatory epithet, the court of appeals found counsel's excuses unreasonable in light of his actual conduct at trial. Mull, Appeal No. 2020AP1362-CR, ¶ 45. (App. 23).

Thus, this case demonstrates that, while deference is required, the deference standard is not absolute. The mere giving of an excuse does not categorically insulate the attorney's conduct from scrutiny; to hold otherwise would eviscerate the defendant's right to the effective assistance of counsel.

 $^{^5}$ It should be noted that the State never responded to this evidentiary argument in its brief, thereby conceding it in Jovan's favor, as the court of appeals properly concluded. *Mull*, Appeal No. 2020AP1362-CR, \P 36. (App. 19-20).

Accordingly, when the actual text of the opinion is carefully considered, it is simply misleading to argue that the court of appeals abandoned the requirements of deference and that it failed to apply standard legal principles governing ineffectiveness claims. The court of appeals appears to have worked hard at taking counsel's excuses seriously, trying to justify his conduct even in the face of these serious accusations of deficient representation. However, after an exhaustive review of the entire record, the court of appeals simply concluded that it could not label that conduct as reasonable—a highly case-specific holding that is not clearly erroneous given the glaring omissions in this case.

Accordingly, review is not warranted.

 \mathbf{C} . The State's arguments that the court of appeals misapplied $Denny^6$ are patently frivolous based on this record. In addition, the State has failed to clearly develop a meaningful argument in its petition.

The State also claims that it was unreasonable to grant a new trial for failure to present a third-party perpetrator defense because "that defense includes three elements and required evidence [trial counsel] did not have." (State's Petition at 19). The State cites several cases for general legal principles, but never explains in its petition why the third-party perpetrator defense was unavailable and what specific legal errors

⁶ State v. Denny, 120 Wis. 2d 614, 357 N.W.2d 12 (Ct. App. 1984).

the court of appeals made by concluding otherwise. The State also does not explain why reviewing this case will help to develop or clarify the well-settled principles for admission of third-party perpetrator evidence.

Moreover, any assertion that the third-party perpetrator defense was legally unavailable is frivolous. With respect to Vashawn Smith: (1) the person who was the target of the shooting was in a violent brawl with Vashawn moments before the shooting; (2) Vashawn testified he was present when the shots were fired and other evidence places him in front of the door when the crime occurred; (3) an eyewitness identified him as the shooter. With respect to Menjuan; (1) he was also involved in the fight and the person who was shot at—Davion—attacked Menjuan with a taser before retreating into the room; (2&3) a witness places him in front of the door, with a gun, talking about shooting into the door before shots were fired into the door. With respect to Tyler: (1) Tyler was friends with Menjuan and Vashawn and was present at the party when they were fighting with Davion, the person shot at; (2) Tyler was seen with a gun, at the party; (3) Tyler admitted that he shot his gun at the party.

Based on this record evidence, it strains credulity to assert that a third-party defense was not legally available. The State's claim is that proof someone actually saw a person commit a crime is somehow insufficient to argue that this person may have, in fact, committed a crime. This is a perverse and

nonsensical argument that ought not to be seriously considered by this Court.

D. The State misrepresents the record evidence to claim that trial counsel "presented the jury with essentially the same evidence Mull now argues should have been used."

Next, the State tries to make an argument similar to one already rejected by the court of appeals—that counsel could not be ineffective for not presenting bombshell evidence showing that someone else killed Ericka because, in fact, that information was already presented to the jury. (State's Petition at 22).

This argument is nonsensical. Comparison of the two evidentiary narratives—the information presented at trial, which included a personal assurance from the State that Vashawn was innocent against the evidence in the overall appellate record now in existence—demonstrates that there was a broad body of highly relevant evidence that someone other than Jovan fired the fatal shots that evening. The jury was simply never told about, for example, evidence that Vashawn was seen committing the crime, that Tyler admitted to it, or that Menjuan was seen talking about shooting into a door before shots were, in fact, fired into the door.

The State's attempts to bring this distorted factual argument as a basis for review should therefore fail.

E. The State's prejudice argument is unpersuasive and insufficient to merit review by this Court.

Finally, the State claims that Jovan was not prejudiced by counsel's omissions. (State's Petition at 22). It is patently unclear why this issue would merit review by this Court; the State has not shown why reassessment of the court of appeals' application of the prejudice requirements would mandate review in this instance.

In any case, the record is clear that Jovan was, in fact, prejudiced by counsel's failures. If, for example, a jury believed the account of Keshawna Wright that it was Vashawn, and not Jovan who fired the gun, then an acquittal is more than a theoretical possibility. Likewise, evidence that Jovan was not identified as the shooter by other eyewitnesses or evidence that Tyler Harris actually admitted to the crime equivalently undermine confidence in the ensuing verdict.

Accordingly, this Court should decline to grant review.

II. If this Court accepts review, it should consider granting Jovan a new trial in the interest of justice.

While Jovan believes that the State's petition should be rejected due to its manifold failures as well as the intensively fact-dependent nature of this case, if this Court disagrees and opts to grant review, Jovan will ask this Court to grant a new trial in the interest of justice pursuant to Wis. Stat. § 809.62(3)(d).

As the statement of facts shows, there is copious evidence in this record which undermines the fairness and integrity of Jovan's conviction. The jury was never told several important facts, including but not limited to:

- The person who was fired at—Davion—had attacked Vashawn's friend, Menjuan, with a taser shortly before retreating to the bedroom. (83:28).
- Jalyn Lynch told police that Menjuan was seen in front of the door with a gun and was telling his friend to shoot into the door. (84:52).
- The group of men in front of the door included the man who had been arguing with Davion—a clear reference to Vashawn Smith. (82:38).
- Keshawna Wright identified Vashawn Smith as the shooter. (82:56).
- Casie James, Vashawn's friend, could place Vashawn in the house when the shooting occurred. (83:23-25).
- Multiple eyewitnesses failed to identify Jovan as the shooter. (83:48; 84:25; 84:27).

Careful review of the overall record—as well as the decision of the court of appeals highlighting evidence in this record which problematizes the jury's verdict—makes it clear beyond any doubt both that the real controversy was not fully tried and that justice has miscarried.

After all, what rational person could conclude that this trial was fair or reliable when the jury was never presented with credible evidence that Vashawn, Tyler or Menjuan pulled the trigger? What of the evidence that Vashawn withheld Tyler's admission of guilt? And wouldn't a reasonable jury want to know about Vashawn's manifold credibility issues before choosing to send a man to prison based on his testimony?

In this case, the trial transcript is in many ways divorced from the messy reality portrayed in the police reports. While the jury was pointedly told to examine whether the "wrong person" was on trial for this homicide, (139:7), their ability to do handicapped by the deficient presentation substantial evidence. This fundamentally impaired the jury's truth-seeking function. A jury asked to solve a whodunit, without ever being told that more than one person has been identified as the killer, is operating from a place where truth can only be incidentally stumbled upon, and not meaningfully uncovered.

Our justice system—and Jovan—deserves better. Accordingly, should this Court decide to accept

Filed 03-16-2022

the petition for review, Jovan will ask this Court to grant a new trial under its discretionary authority.

CONCLUSION

For all of the reasons set forth herein, Jovan asks this Court to deny the State's petition for review. However, if the Court grants the petition, Jovan will ask this Court to grant a new trial in the interest of justice.